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TABLE 2—MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM CIVIL PENALTIES—ADJUSTED FOR INFLATION, EFFECTIVE AUGUST 
20, 2009—Continued 

United States 
Code Citation Civil penalty description Minimum 

penalty 

Adjusted 
minimum 
penalty 

Maximum pen-
alty amount 

when last set 
or adjusted 

pursuant to law 

Maximum pen-
alty amount 

49 U.S.C. 
46301(a)(1), (4).

Violation of 49 U.S.C. ch. 449 (except secs. 
44902, 44903(d), 44907(a)–(d)(1)(A), 
44907(d)(1)(C)–(f), 44908, and 44909), or 
49 U.S.C. 46302 or 46303, a regulation pre-
scribed, or order issued thereunder by an in-
dividual (except an airman serving as an air-
man), any person not operating an aircraft 
for the transportation of passengers or prop-
erty for compensation, or a small business 
concern.

N/A N/A $10,000 per 
violation, 
reset 12/12/ 
2003.

$11,000 per 
violation. 

49 U.S.C. 114(v) .. Violation of any other provision of title 49 
U.S.C. or of 46 U.S.C. ch. 701, a regulation 
prescribed, or order issued under there-
under.

N/A N/A NA ................... $10,000 per 
violation. 

§ 1503.403 Delegation of authority. 
The Administrator delegates the fol-

lowing authority to the Chief Counsel 
and the Deputy Chief Counsel for En-
forcement, which authority may be re-
delegated as necessary: 

(a) To initiate and assess civil pen-
alties under 49 U.S.C. 114 and 46301 and 
this subpart for a violation a TSA re-
quirement; 

(b) To compromise civil penalties ini-
tiated under this subpart; and 

(c) To refer cases to the Attorney 
General of the United States, or the 
delegate of the Attorney General, for 
the collection of civil penalties. 

§ 1503.405 Injunctions. 
Whenever it is determined that a per-

son has engaged, or is about to engage, 
in any act or practice constituting a 
violation of a TSA requirement, the 
Chief Counsel or the Deputy Chief 
Counsel for Enforcement may request 
the Attorney General of the United 
States, or the delegate of the Attorney 
General, to bring an action in the ap-
propriate United States district court 
for such relief as is necessary or appro-
priate, including mandatory or prohibi-
tive injunctive relief, interim equitable 
relief, and punitive damages, as pro-
vided by 49 U.S.C. 114 and 46107. 

§ 1503.407 Military personnel. 
If a report made under this part indi-

cates that, while performing official 
duties, a member of the Armed Forces, 

or a civilian employee of the Depart-
ment of Defense who is subject to the 
Uniform Code of Military Justice (10 
U.S.C. chapter 47), has violated a TSA 
requirement, an agency official will 
send a copy of the report to the appro-
priate military authority for such dis-
ciplinary action as that authority con-
siders appropriate and a report to the 
Administrator thereon. 

§ 1503.409 Service of documents. 

(a) General. This section governs 
service of documents required to be 
made under this part. 

(b) Type of service. A person may 
serve documents by: 

(1) Personal delivery; 
(2) Mail, or 
(3) Electronic mail or facsimile 

transmission, if consented to in writing 
by the person served, except that such 
service is not effective if the party 
making service receives credible infor-
mation indicating that the attempted 
service did not reach the person to be 
served. 

(c) If a party serves a pleading on an-
other party during the course of hear-
ing proceedings by electronic mail or 
facsimile transmission, the party mak-
ing service must file with the Enforce-
ment Docket Clerk a copy of the con-
sent of the receiving party to accept 
such method of service. 

(d) Date of service. The date of service 
will be: 

(1) The date of personal delivery. 
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(2) If mailed, the mailing date stated 
on the certificate of service, the date 
shown on the postmark if there is no 
certificate of service, or other mailing 
date shown by other evidence if there 
is no certificate of service or postmark. 

(3) If sent by electronic mail or fac-
simile transmission, the date of trans-
mission. 

(e) Valid service. A document served 
by mail or personal delivery that was 
properly addressed, was sent in accord-
ance with this part, and that was re-
turned, that was not claimed, or that 
was refused, is deemed to have been 
served in accordance with this part. 
The service will be considered valid as 
of the date and the time that the docu-
ment was deposited with a contract or 
express messenger, the document was 
mailed, or personal delivery of the doc-
ument was attempted and refused. 

(f) Presumption of service. There will 
be a presumption of service where a 
party or a person, who customarily re-
ceives mail, or receives it in the ordi-
nary course of business, at either the 
person’s residence or the person’s prin-
cipal place of business, acknowledges 
receipt of the document. 

(g) Additional time after service by mail. 
Whenever a party has a right or a duty 
to act or to make any response within 
a prescribed period after service by 
mail, or on a date certain after service 
by mail, 5 days will be added to the 
prescribed period. 

(h) Service of documents filed with the 
Enforcement Docket. A person must 
serve a copy of any document filed 
with the Enforcement Docket on each 
party and the ALJ or the chief ALJ if 
no judge has been assigned to the pro-
ceeding at the time of filing. Service 
on a party’s attorney of record or a 
party’s designated representative is 
service on the party. 

(i) Certificate of service. Each party 
must attach a certificate of service to 
any document tendered for filing with 
the Enforcement Docket Clerk. A cer-
tificate of service must consist of a 
statement, dated and signed by the per-
son who effected service, of the name(s) 
of the person(s) served, and the method 
by which each person was served and 
the date that the service was made. 

(j) Service by the ALJ. The ALJ must 
serve a copy of each document he or 

she issues including, but not limited 
to, notices of pre-hearing conferences 
and hearings, rulings on motions, deci-
sions, and orders, upon each party to 
the proceedings. 

§ 1503.411 Computation of time. 
(a) This section applies to any period 

of time prescribed or allowed by this 
part, or by notice or order of an ALJ. 

(b) The date of an act, event, or de-
fault, after which a designated time pe-
riod begins to run, is not included in a 
computation of time under this sub-
part. 

(c) The last day of a time period is in-
cluded in a computation of time unless 
it is a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holi-
day, or a day on which the enforcement 
docket is officially closed. If the last 
day of the time period is a Saturday, 
Sunday, legal holiday, or a day on 
which the enforcement docket is offi-
cially closed, the time period runs 
until the end of the next day that is 
not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday, 
or a day on which the enforcement 
docket is officially closed. 

§ 1503.413 Notice of Proposed Civil 
Penalty. 

(a) Issuance. TSA may initiate a civil 
penalty action under this section by 
serving a Notice of Proposed Civil Pen-
alty on the person charged with a vio-
lation of a TSA requirement. TSA will 
serve the Notice of Proposed Civil Pen-
alty on the individual charged with a 
violation or on the president of the cor-
poration or company charged with a 
violation, or other representative or 
employee previously identified in writ-
ing to TSA as designated to receive 
such service. A corporation or company 
may designate in writing to TSA an-
other person to receive service of any 
subsequent documents in that civil 
penalty action. 

(b) Contents. The Notice of Proposed 
Civil Penalty contains a statement of 
the facts alleged, the statute, regula-
tion, or order allegedly violated, the 
amount of the proposed civil penalty, 
and a certificate of service. 

(c) Response. Not later than 30 days 
after receipt of the Notice of Proposed 
Civil Penalty, the person charged with 
a violation may take one, and only 
one, of the following options. 
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